RECEIVED

Nov 13 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-42-03421

Court of Appeals No. 2020-001146
Unpublished Opinion No. 2023-UP-281 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 2, 2023)

Supreme Court Case No. 2023-001644

Armando J. Acevedo,
through his Attorney-in-Fact,
Marianne Acevedo,

Respondent,

v.

Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC;
THI of South Carolina, LLC; and
THI of South Carolina at Camp Care, LLC,
d/b/a Lake Emory Post Acute Care,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motion to Stay?**
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the power of attorney document (the “HCPOA”) did not give Mrs. Acevedo authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Acevedo’s behalf, because Plaintiff already conceded in the circuit court Mrs. Acevedo’s authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo?**
 - B. Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the remaining issues/arguments regarding the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration?**

¹ The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner THI of South Carolina at Camp Care, LLC, d/b/a Lake Emory Post Acute Care. It is a skilled nursing facility in Spartanburg County.

² “THISC” refers to Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner THI of South Carolina, LLC.

³ “HVH” refers to Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC.

⁴ “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Armando J. Acevedo (“Mr. Acevedo”), through his Attorney-in-Fact, Marianne Acevedo (“Mrs. Acevedo”).

- C. Had the Court of Appeals reached the remaining issues/arguments regarding the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration (as, most respectfully, Petitioners contend it should have), should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred as follows?**
- 1. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks consideration and mutuality?**
 - 2. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks material terms?**
 - 3. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable?**
 - 4. Assuming, *arguendo*, it is both (1) a finding and (2) material, did the circuit court err in finding that the Facility is insufficiently named in the Arbitration Agreement?**
- D. Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Stay?**
- E. Had the Court of Appeals reached the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Stay (as, most respectfully, Petitioners contend it should have), should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Stay?**
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in declining to reach HVH’s appeal regarding the Motion to Dismiss on the basis that the denial of a motion to dismiss is not immediately appealable?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of his wife and duly appointed attorney-in-fact, Mrs. Acevedo,⁵ Mr. Acevedo was admitted to the Facility on July 12, 2017. (R. p. 43 ¶ 50.) In conjunction with Mr. Acevedo’s admission, Mrs. Acevedo signed an Arbitration Agreement on his behalf. (R. p. 183.)^{6 7}

⁵ (See R. p. 183, pp. 199–204, pp. 205–07 ¶¶ 2–3, 8–14, p. 240 ¶¶ 1, 6–7.)

⁶ It is undisputed that Mrs. Acevedo was duly authorized to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo as his attorney-in-fact. (See, e.g., R. p. 209 (“[Mrs. Acevedo] . . . has power of attorney over [Mr. Acevedo] who was admitted into [the Facility] on July 12, 2017.”).)

⁷ It is undisputed that the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. (the “FAA”). (See, e.g., R. p. 2 (“The FAA applies to [the] [A]rbitration [A]greement.”), p. 19 (same).) The Arbitration Agreement expressly states that the

Plaintiff commenced this nursing home malpractice action in Spartanburg County on October 3, 2018, in the Court of Common Pleas, asserting various claims for damages arising out of allegedly deficient care/treatment Mr. Acevedo received during his residency at the Facility. (See R. pp. 32–90.)

The Facility made the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 180–82.)⁸ In turn, THISC made the Motion to Stay, asking the circuit court to stay the action until the Motion to Compel Arbitration was finally decided and any and all arbitration proceedings between Plaintiff and the Facility were completed. (R. pp. 184–85.) And HVH made the Motion to Dismiss, arguing the circuit court lacked personal jurisdiction over it. (R. pp. 178–79.)

Following the parties’ submission of briefs⁹ and a hearing held February 1, 2019,¹⁰ the circuit court, the Honorable J. Derham Cole presiding, denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed October 21, 2019. (R. pp. 1–13.) The order was silent as to the Motion to Stay. (*Id.*) The order was silent as to the Motion to Dismiss, too, but unlike the Motion to Stay, the

FAA applies. (R. p. 183.) Moreover, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

⁸ Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. Its plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims. (See R. p. 183 (“It is the intention of the parties to this [Arbitration] Agreement to bind not only themselves, but also their successors, assigns, heirs, personal representatives, guardians or any persons deriving their claims through or on behalf of [Mr. Acevedo].”), *id.* (“It is . . . understood that in the event of any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Acevedo’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Acevedo] . . . and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration”)) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999). And to be clear, there is no contention from Plaintiff that her claims are outside the scope of the Arbitration Agreement.

⁹ (R. pp. 186–98, pp. 208–34.)

¹⁰ (R. pp. 124–56.)

Motion to Dismiss had been withdrawn—with Plaintiff’s consent and without prejudice to HVH refileing it—on the record at the outset of the February 1, 2019, hearing. (R. pp. 126:1–129:5.)¹¹

On October 31, 2020, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, Petitioners timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision (the “Motion to Reconsider”). (R. pp. 242–52.) The bulk of the Motion to Reconsider took issue with the court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and sought rulings from the court on every distinct issue/argument the Facility raised in support thereof;¹² however, out of an abundance of caution, the Motion to Reconsider also asked the court to clarify the scope of its October 21, 2019, order, specifically, to clarify whether it disposed of the Motion to Compel Arbitration only or if it also disposed of the Motion to Stay and/or the Motion to Dismiss. (R. p. 243.)

Following a hearing on January 22, 2020,¹³ the circuit court filed a Form 4 order on June 9, 2020, granting the Motion to Reconsider “to the extent that clarification is needed for the benefit of defendant’s counsel” and directing Plaintiff’s counsel to submit a proposed formal order “separately addressing each defendant’s motion(s) and its grounds presented in support of the relief requested and to specifically state that [the Motion to Dismiss] is denied, [the Motion to Compel Arbitration is] denied, and [the Motion to Stay] is denied.” (R. pp. 14–16.) The court filed its formal order to this effect on July 10, 2020. (R. pp. 17–31.)

This appeal timely followed by notice served and filed August 10, 2020,¹⁴ and in due course, it was briefed and made ready for decision.

¹¹ Indeed, consistent with the withdrawal of the Motion to Dismiss, shortly after the February 1st hearing, on February 12, 2019, HVH answered Plaintiff’s complaint, “*specifically reserving its right to move to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction.*” (R. pp. 105–23 (emphasis in original).)

¹² (See generally R. pp. 242–52.)

¹³ (R. pp. 157–71.)

¹⁴ (R. pp. 257–61.)

The case was submitted for decision during the June 2023 term without oral argument and decided on August 2, 2023, via the Subject Opinion, which affirmed the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, its denial of the Motion to Stay and declined to address HVH’s appeal of the Motion to Dismiss.

This petition for rehearing timely follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motion to Stay.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the HCPOA did not give Mrs. Acevedo authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Acevedo’s behalf, because Plaintiff already conceded in the circuit court Mrs. Acevedo’s authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo.

The Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended the fact that, as explained in Petitioners’ principal brief to the Court of Appeals, “It is undisputed that Mrs. Acevedo was duly authorized to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo as his attorney-in-fact.” (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 209 (“[Mrs. Acevedo] . . . has power of attorney over [Mr. Acevedo] who was admitted into [the Facility] on July 12, 2017.”); *see also* R. p. 129:6–14 (where Petitioners’ counsel explained as follows to the circuit court without any dispute or contradiction from Plaintiff’s counsel: “Your Honor, obviously, I know that many arbitration motions are before the Court and more recently in our appellate courts, most of those having to do with authority and who can bind a loved one and whether or not they have sufficient legal authority to waive the constitutional right to a jury trial. Those issues are not before the Court, because Ms. Acevedo had a power of attorney over her husband. The plaintiff is not challenging authority.”).) Moreover, Mrs. Acevedo has brought this lawsuit on behalf of Mr. Acevedo on the basis that she holds power of attorney over him—which power she necessarily concedes authorizes her to affect his legal rights, including the right to waive his right to a jury trial¹⁵—and there is no indication anywhere in the record of any other power of attorney that Mrs. Acevedo holds over Mr. Acevedo besides the HCPOA. Because Plaintiff

¹⁵ In this regard, Petitioners note that agreeing to arbitration is not the only way to waive the right to a jury trial. Agreeing to settle a lawsuit is to agree to forego the right to a jury trial.

already conceded Mrs. Acevedo's authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo, this is not a valid ground on which to affirm the circuit court. *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) ("An issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal.").

B. The Court of Appeals erred in not reaching the remaining issues/arguments regarding the circuit court's denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

As explained in the Subject Opinion, "[a]s a result of [its] finding [Mrs. Acevedo] lacked authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on [Mr.] Acevedo's behalf, [the Court of Appeals] [did] not address [Petitioners'] remaining issues regarding the Arbitration Agreement." (Subject Opinion p. 3.) Specifically, these issues/arguments include the following:

- (1) That the circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks consideration and mutuality;
- (2) That the circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks material terms;
- (3) That the circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable; and
- (4) That assuming, *arguendo*, it is both (1) a finding and (2) material, the circuit court erred in finding that the Facility is insufficiently named in the Arbitration Agreement.

Therefore, for the same reasons that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the HCPOA did not give Mrs. Acevedo authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Acevedo's behalf, it likewise erred in not reaching the remaining issues/arguments regarding the circuit court's denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

C. Had the Court of Appeals reached the remaining issues/arguments regarding the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration (as, most respectfully, it should have), the Court of Appeals should have found that the circuit court erred as follows.

1. The circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks consideration and mutuality.

The Arbitration Agreement clearly reflects the parties’ mutual and concurrent promises to give up their respective litigation rights in favor of arbitration. Without question, this is adequate consideration. *See Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 304, 468 S.E.2d 292, 300 (1996) (“Valuable consideration for a contract may consist of some forbearance given or detriment suffered.”); *O’Neil v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 115 F.3d 272, 274–75 (4th Cir. 1997) (“O’Neil first argues the contract to arbitrate was not supported by adequate consideration because the agreement was not binding on the hospital. O’Neil’s argument fails because its premise is mistaken. . . . It is true that courts have refused to enforce arbitration agreements where the agreement specifically allows the employer to ignore the results of arbitration. That is not the case here, however. There is no such clause in the arbitration agreement signed by O’Neil, and we decline to read such a clause into the contract. *A mutual promise to arbitrate constitutes sufficient consideration for this arbitration agreement.*”) (citing *Rickborn, supra*) (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added); *id.* at 275 (“O’Neil’s argument is especially misplaced in the circumstances of this case. Not only has the hospital consistently argued that it is bound by the arbitration agreement, it has, by virtue of this suit, shown its commitment to the arbitration process. Indeed, the only party to this case who has shown a desire to avoid binding arbitration is O’Neil herself.”) (applying South Carolina law).

Moreover, the FAA mandates that arbitration agreements be placed on equal footing with other contracts and that, while a court may set aside arbitration agreements by state-law defenses that govern the validity, revocability, and enforceability of contracts generally, it may not do so

“by defenses that apply only to arbitration or derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). To require additional consideration for the Arbitration Agreement beyond the parties’ mutual and concurrent promises (to give up their respective litigation rights in favor of arbitration) is to require additional consideration to support the Arbitration Agreement beyond what South Carolina law requires to support other contracts and, thus, to violate the FAA.

Likewise, and besides the fact that it has nothing to do with the issue of consideration, the quote the circuit court cites from *Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016)—“any possible benefit emanating from the [Arbitration Agreement] alone is offset by the [Arbitration Agreement’s] requirement that [the resident] waive her right to access the courts and her right to a jury trial”¹⁶—cannot properly support the court’s decision because it places arbitration agreements on unequal footing from other contracts.¹⁷ Under the FAA, it simply cannot be the case that mutual promises constitute sufficient consideration to form a binding agreement except in the case of arbitration agreements.

Further still, the idea that mutual promises to arbitrate do not effect an exchange of benefits to both sides is irreconcilable with the strong presumption *in favor of* arbitration agreements and the state and federal policy *favoring* arbitration of disputes. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007) (“There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because both state and federal policy favor arbitration of disputes.”). There is no way to square the logic of the quote from *Thompson*—and its negative view of arbitration—with the policy preference in favor of arbitration under both South Carolina and

¹⁶ (R. p. 6 (emphasis omitted), p. 22 (same) (emphasis omitted).)

¹⁷ See *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339.

federal law. The whole point of arbitration is to make use of an alternative—i.e., outside the traditional litigation process—form of dispute resolution. The giving up—on both sides—of this process (and all that comes along with it) in favor of the alternative of arbitration is the benefit.¹⁸

Regarding the circuit court’s reference to Plaintiff’s argument that *if* the Arbitration Agreement is a *precondition* of admission it constitutes an improper benefit or other consideration under federal law relating to Medicare/Medicaid reimbursements, this argument fails of its essential premise: namely, that the Arbitration Agreement was such a *precondition*, which it was

¹⁸ Petitioners recognize the language in this Court’s decision in *Palmetto Construction Group, LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 856 S.E.2d 150 (2021), that “statements [in our appellate jurisprudence] that the law ‘favors’ arbitration,” which are numerous, *e.g.*, *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2016) (“The policy of the United States and of South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes.”); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (same); *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 455, 730 S.E.2d 312, 316 (2012) (“There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because of the strong policy favoring arbitration.”) (quoting *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 37, 524 S.E.2d 839, 844 (Ct. App. 1999)), “mean simply that courts must respect and enforce a contractual provision to arbitrate as it respects and enforces all contractual provisions” and that “[t]here is . . . no public policy—federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration;” however, respectfully, it is impossible to square this language in *Palmetto Construction Group* with language in other decisions of this Court, for instance, the language in *Zabinski* (which the Court thereafter echoed in *Parsons*) that “[t]he policy of the United States and South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes.” 346 S.C. at 596, 553 S.E.2d at 118 (emphasis added). More than just recognizing that contractual provisions to arbitrate must be respected and enforced in the same way as other contractual provisions, this plain language expressly recognizes the existence of a public policy—federal and state—that “favor[s]” arbitration *as a method of dispute resolution*. Moreover, *Zabinski* instructs that “[a]ny doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration;” that, “unless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered;” and that “[a] motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute.” *Id.* at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118–19. These rules do not merely ensure that contractual provisions to arbitrate are respected and enforced in the same way as other contractual provisions: They affirmatively tip the scales in favor of arbitration. Indeed, citing this Court’s decision in *Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E., LLC*, 405 S.C. 115, 747 S.E.2d 461 (2013), the Court of Appeals has expressly recognized that “[d]ue to the strong South Carolina and federal policy favoring arbitration, arbitration agreements are presumed valid.” *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 607, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020) (emphasis added) (citing *Cape Romain Contractors*, 405 S.C. at 125, 747 S.E.2d at 466)).

not,¹⁹ as indeed the circuit court itself recognized. (R. p. 1 (“A separate contract called ‘Arbitration Agreement’ was also signed on July 12, 2019 during the admission process but was not a condition of admission.”); R. p. 18 (same).)

Lastly, the circuit court conflates the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is a precondition of admission with the question of whether there is consideration to support the Arbitration Agreement. (*See* R. p. 6 (“If the jury waiver was not a precondition to admission, then it fails for lack of consideration. Here, Defendants cannot have it both ways. They cannot, on the one hand, argue that the waiver was not consideration for the admission, but on the other, argue that the admission was valuable consideration for the waiver.”), p. 23 (same).) The fact that the Arbitration Agreement is *not a precondition of admission* means that it cannot possibly violate any federal rule against the Facility accepting additional consideration *as a precondition of admission*. It does not, however, mean that there was no consideration to support the Arbitration Agreement, which there certainly was (as explained above). It just means that the Arbitration Agreement itself did not constitute any form of unlawful consideration to the Facility.

2. The circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks material terms.²⁰

The circuit court erroneously found that the Arbitration Agreement is indefinite and/or silent as to material terms and therefore unenforceable, as there was no meeting of the minds. (R. pp. 7–9, pp. 24–25.) Specifically, the court found that the Arbitration Agreement lacks

¹⁹ (*See also* R. p. 207, ¶ 9.)

²⁰ Issues/Arguments I.C.2 and I.C.3 correspond to Issues/Arguments I.B and I.C in Petitioners’ principal brief to the Court of Appeals. As in Petitioners’ principal appellate brief, there is some overlap between these Issues/Arguments, and to the extent relevant, they are incorporated by reference into each other.

definiteness as to: (1) arbitrator selection, (2) the rules of evidence, and (3) allowance of pre-hearing discovery. (*Id.*) This was error.

In *Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 438 (2009), the arbitration agreement at issue *specifically required* a particular entity to serve as arbitrator and was silent as to any alternative, neither specifying an alternate arbitrator nor providing a mechanism to select an alternate. 383 S.C. at 128, 678 S.E.2d at 437. When the designated entity was no longer able to serve as arbitrator, a dispute arose. *Id.* Finding that the specification of the named arbitrator was a material term of the agreement and that it had been rendered ineffective, the *Grant* Court held arbitration was no longer required. *See Id.* at 128–132, 678 S.E.2d at 437–39 (“Where designation of a specific arbitral forum has implications that may substantially affect the substantive outcome of the resolution, we believe that it is neither ‘logistical’ nor ‘ancillary.’”). The Court also held that the default selection mechanism in FAA § 5 was inapplicable *when the parties make a specific arbitrator an integral term*. *Id.* at 131, 678 S.E.2d at 438.²¹

Although *Grant* does require all material terms to exist within an arbitration agreement for

²¹ FAA § 5 provides as follows:

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