THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Dec 13 2023

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2023-001644

Armando J. Acevedo Respondent
through his Attorney-in-Fact
Marianne Acevedo,

v.

Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC;
THI of South Carolina, LLC; and
THI of South Carolina at Camp
Care, LLC d/b/a Lake Emory Post
Acute Care, Petitioners.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Gary W. Poliakoff
Raymond P. Mullman, Jr.
Poliakoff & Associates, PA
215 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 582-5472

Patrick E. Knie
Patrick E. Knie Law Offices
250 Magnolia Street
PO Box 5159

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled the Facility may not compel its resident (Armando Acevedo) to arbitrate his personal injury claims against the Facility in the absence of a valid contract where he (or a legal representative) agreed to do so. Acevedo, Opinion No. 2023-UP-281, at * 2-3. Specifically, the court held the signature of Mr. Acevedo’s wife lacked authority to sign a proposed arbitration contract because she had been named Mr. Acevedo’s agent only in a *health care*¹ power of attorney. Id. That holding closely tracks this Court’s ruling in Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC, 433 S.C. 69, 856 S.E.2d 550 (2021), decided as the parties briefed this appeal below.

¹ Petitioners falsely identified this document as a “General Durable Power of Attorney” in the Record on Appeal. (R. p. ii). The document is plainly titled as “South Carolina Health Care Power of Attorney.” (R. p. 199).

What is odd about the Petition is that it ignores Arredondo entirely. Petitioners seek discretionary review of a unanimous, per curiam memorandum opinion explicitly applying Arredondo without ever discussing or even once citing that opinion. It is difficult to deduce what about the Court of Appeals' application of Arredondo Petitioners find objectionable. Instead, Petitioners rely on a plainly false claim that Ms. Acevedo conceded in this litigation her authority to sign for her husband. There is simply nothing in the record to support this charge. At bottom, the Petition fails in its fundamental purpose of explaining the "special and important reasons" why the court of appeals' straight forward application of Arredondo is wrong and warrants further review. Rule 242(b), SCACR.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled Mr. Acevedo's "Health Care Power of Attorney" did not empower his wife to enter an arbitration contract on his behalf.

This appeal turns on the interpretation of the statutory "Health Care Power of Attorney" (R. p. 199-204) ("HCPOA") Mr. Acevedo signed in which he named his wife as "health care agent." See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-WifeW (providing full text of form). Arredondo considered the same form HCPOA and ruled it does not empower a nursing home resident's family member to sign a voluntary, standalone, and pre-dispute arbitration contract. The use of Arredondo here does not require any deductions, analogies, or interpretations. The Court of Appeals simply applied the exact legal reasoning this Court unanimously espoused in Arredondo to precisely the same HCOPA language considered in Arredondo.

In both Arredondo and this case, the nursing home resident used an HCPOA to grant a "health care agent" like Ms. Acevedo authority

To take any other action necessary to making, documenting, and assuring implementation of decisions concerning my health care, including, but not limited to, granting any waiver or release from liability required by any hospital, physician, nursing care provider, or other health care provider; signing any documents relating to refusals of treatment or the leaving of a facility against medical advice, and

pursuing any legal action in my name, and at the expense of my estate to force compliance with my wishes as determined by my agent, or to see actual or punitive damages for the failure to comply.

(R. p. 201 § 4(D); Arredondo, 433 S.C. 80-81, 856 S.E.2d at 556-57. None of the clauses in this provision authorize a health care agent to sign a document like the Arbitration Agreement.

Arredondo first interpreted the phrase “action necessary to making, documenting, and assuring implementation of decisions concerning [a nursing home resident’s] health care. Arredondo, 433 S.C. at 81-83, 856 S.E.2d at 557-58. The only health care decision at issue is the nursing home resident’s admission to a nursing facility. Id. at 81, 856 S.E.2d at 557. A proposed arbitration contract is not “necessary” to that health care decision when the resident can be admitted to a facility without agreeing to arbitration. Id. at 82, 856 S.E.2d at 557. The same principle applies here. Since the Arbitration Agreement was not a precondition to Mr. Acevedo’s admission, this portion of the HCPOA did not authorize his health care agent (Ms. Acevedo) to execute the Arbitration Agreement. The circuit court concluded the Arbitration Agreement was not required for Mr. Acevedo’s admission. (R. p. 1) (finding Arbitration Agreement “was not a condition of admission”). Petitioners do not dispute this point. (R. p. 134, lines 8-9) (“arbitration is not a precondition for admission”); (R. p. 165, lines 18-19) (describing Arbitration Agreement as “voluntary and not a precondition of admission”).

Similarly, a health care agent’s authority to “grant[] any waiver or release . . . required by” any health care provider did not empower a nursing home resident’s family member to execute a voluntary arbitration agreement. Arredondo, 433 S.C. at 83-84, 856 S.E.2d at 558. If entering such an agreement is not a precondition to admission, its proposed waiver of the right to a jury trial is not “required” by the nursing home. Id. at 84, 856 S.E.2d at 558. Finally, there are two reasons the authority to “pursu[e] any legal action” also does not apply to the execution of a document like the

Arbitration Agreement. First, that authority only applies to the pursuit of legal action “to force compliance with [the principal’s] wishes as determined by” the health care agent. Id. at 84, 856 S.E.2d at 558-59. Arbitrating Mr. Acevedo’s personal injury claims is not consistent with Mr. Acevedo’s wishes as determined by Ms. Acevedo. Second, as other courts have recognized, executing a *pre-dispute* arbitration contract takes place before there is any legal claim to pursue and, therefore, consideration of such a document has nothing to do with instituting legal proceedings. Id. at 84-85, 856 S.E.2d at 559 (citing Kindred Nursing Ctrs. Ltd. P’ship v. Wellner, 533 S.W.3d 189, 193-94 (Ky. 2017)). Ms. Acevedo was presented with the Arbitration Agreement when Mr. Acevedo entered the Facility on July 12, 2017, before he suffered the fall on which his current legal claims are based. (R. p. 43 ¶ 50; R. p. 183); (R. p. 43 ¶ 51) (noting fall on July 14, 2017). Just as in Arredondo, the HCPOA provided no authority for Ms. Acevedo to enter this pre-dispute arbitration contract.

In short, the Court of Appeals correctly applied Arredondo in finding Ms. Acevedo lacked authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement and, as a result, the circuit court correctly denied the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration. Acevedo, Opinion No. 2023-UP-281, at * 2-3. Since Arredondo and this case address functionally identical HCPOAs, Petitioners could only avoid the outcome reached there if Arredondo were overruled. There is no basis for overturning this recent, unanimous ruling, and Petitioners do not even offer one.

2. Ms. Acevedo never conceded the notion that she had authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Acevedo.

Rather than addressing the decisive holdings in Arredondo, Petitioners argue the dispute over Ms. Acevedo’s alleged authority was already settled when Ms. Acevedo conceded earlier in this litigation she was empowered to sign the Arbitration Agreement. (Pet. at 6-7). Nothing in the record supports this contention.

Petitioners offer just two citations in support of their concession argument. (Pet. at 6). One is a statement from their own attorneys during a circuit court motion hearing. Id. (citing R. p. 129, lines 6-14). Petitioners never explain how their flawed argument during that hearing counts as a concession by their opponent. The second citation references Ms. Acevedo's circuit court memorandum in which she admitted she "has power of attorney" for her husband. (Pet. at 6) (citing R. p. 209). But, that statement is nothing more than an acknowledgment of the HCPOA, which is also a part of the Record on Appeal. For all the reasons discussed in Argument No. 1, acknowledging the HCPOA's existence in no way concedes the notion that the HCPOA authorized Ms. Acevedo to enter a voluntary, standalone, pre-dispute arbitration contract for Mr. Acevedo.

The dispute over Ms. Acevedo's alleged authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement was raised as an additional sustaining ground and extensively briefed at the Court of Appeals. (Resp't Br. at 15-20). Under established South Carolina appellate practice, a respondent may raise an issue on appeal as an additional sustaining ground even if the issue was not raised and ruled on at the trial court level. I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (citing Rule 220, SCACR). The Court of Appeals correctly applied these principles in citing Ms. Acevedo's lack of authority to affirm the circuit court's ruling in this case. Acevedo, Opinion No. 2023-UP-281, at * 2 (citing Rule 220(c), SCACR). Plus, while Ms. Acevedo's Court of Appeals' briefing did not rely on Arredondo, that was only because it was pending at the time. Ms. Acevedo did cite to the Court of Appeals multiple cases that ultimately formed the basis for Arredondo's holding. Compare Resp't Br. at 19 (citing Miller v. Life Care Ctrs. of Am., Inc., 478 P.3d 164 (Wyo. 2020) and Life Care Ctrs. of Am. v. Smith, 681 S.E.2d 182, 185-86 (Ga. App. 2009) with Arredondo, 433 S.C. at 83, 856 S.E.2d at 558 (citing Miller and Smith).

In sum, there is no merit in Petitioner’s concession argument. Neither record citation offered in support of it even suggests Ms. Acevedo had authority under the HCPOA to execute the Arbitration Agreement. The Court of Appeals properly cited Ms. Acevedo’s lack of authority as an additional sustaining ground to affirm the circuit court’s ruling.

3. Since Ms. Acevedo lacked authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement, the Court of Appeals correctly declined to address Petitioners’ other challenges to its enforcement.

The Court of Appeals’ ruling on Ms. Acevedo’s lack of authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement is sufficient to dispose of Petitioner’s entire appeal. Since Ms. Acevedo lacked authority, the Arbitration Agreement is not a valid contract. In the absence of a valid contract, the Facility has no basis for compelling Mr. Acevedo to arbitrate his claims. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596-97, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118-19 (2001) (“Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute that he or she has not agreed to submit”). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly declined to address Petitioners’ appeal of the other basis for invalidating the Arbitration Agreement cited in the circuit court’s order (e.g. unconscionability and lack of material terms). Acevedo, Opinion No. 2023-UP-281, at * 3 (citing Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999)). Moreover, for the reasons stated in earlier briefing, the circuit court’s ruling on these grounds follow substantial South Carolina precedent, and there is no basis for further review on these issues. See Resp’t Br. at 5-14. The Court of Appeals was also correct in refusing to address THI’s motion to stay. This motion was expressly linked to and dependent on the motion to compel arbitration. See e.g. (R. p. 101 ¶ 65) (arguing “[t]his matter must be stayed . . . pending the result of arbitration . . .”). Since there is no valid arbitration . . . contract, there was no basis for considering the motion for a stay.

4. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to address Hunt Valley’s appeal of the denial of a motion to dismiss.

The circuit court denied Hunt Valley’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 30, 178). For more than thirty years, this Court has recognized “the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCP, is interlocutory and not directly appealable. Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Imps., Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E.2d 777 (1993). The Court of Appeals properly applied this precedent (Acevedo, Opinion No. 2023-UP-281, at * 3) and there is no basis for further review on this issue.

CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, Ms. Acevedo respectfully requests the Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.